

From Department of Medicine, Huddinge, Division of Gastroenterology and Hepatology Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden

EVALUATIONS OF MEASUREMENT TECHNIQUES IN FUNCTIONAL DYSPEPSIA: Electrogastrography, satiety drinking test

Electrogastrography, satiety drinking test and ¹⁴C-urea breath test

Shahab Abid



Stockholm 2010

All previously published papers were reproduced with permission from the publishers Published by Karolinska Institutet, Printed by Universitetsservice US-AB © Shahab Abid, 2010 ISBN 978-91-7409-986-7 Dedicated to my mother- Najma Abid, sister- Farah Abid and wife- Fauziah Rabbani

ABSTRACT

The overall aim of this thesis was to evaluate the clinical usefulness of certain measurement techniques that may be helpful in the understanding of functional dyspepsia (FD).

Electrogastrography (EGG) parameters were evaluated and found unable to discriminate one specific motility disorder from other motility disorders of the gut. Moreover the relationship between the electrical activity of the stomach determined by EGG and contractile activity of the gastric antrum assessed by antro-duodenal manometry (ADM) were analyzed and no spatial correlation between EGG and ADM was observed. These results suggest that the clinical usefulness of EGG in the diagnosis of a motility disorder is generally poor and EGG and ADM measure two different aspects of gastric physiology.

The validity of ¹⁴C urea breath test (UBT) was compared with histology and rapid urease test (RUT) for the diagnosis of *H. pylori* infection. Both sensitivity and specificity of ¹⁴C UBT for the diagnosis of *H. pylori* infection were high. This study also indicated a very good concordance between UBT, histology, and RUT for the diagnosis of *H. pylori* infection. These observations suggest that ¹⁴C UBT is a reliable test for diagnosis of *H. pylori* infection.

Satiety drinking tests were done in healthy volunteers by using drinking water at 100 ml/minute and nutrient drinks at 20 and 100 ml/minute. It was found that the maximum tolerated volume (MTV) determined by slow nutrient drinking (SND) was not influenced by body mass index, age and gender compared to rapid water and rapid nutrient drinking. Moreover there was more symptom generation after drinking nutrient liquid at a slow rate. These results suggest that SND is more meaningful in the assessment of MTV. This study also determined the normal values of MTV for satiety drinking tests in a Pakistani population.

The relationship between MTV and dyspepsia symptoms in patients with FD before and after the treatment was assessed. We found a significant correlation between dyspepsia symptom severity scores and MTV. Some of the individual symptom severity scores also correlated with MTV before and after treatment. The findings of this study indicate that determination of MTV by SND can be a surrogate marker for symptoms severity in patients with FD.

This thesis concluded that the diagnostic usefulness of EGG is limited, that ¹⁴C UBT is a reliable test for the diagnosis of *H. pylori* infection, that SND is a better test for the assessment of MTV compared to rapid water and nutrient drinking, and that MTV determined by SND may be useful for the assessment of response to treatment in patients with FD.

LIST OF PUBLICATIONS

- Abid S, Lindberg G. Electrogastrography: Poor correlation with antroduodenal manometry and doubtful clinical usefulness in adults. World J Gastroenterol 2007; 13:5101-5107
- Rasool S, Abid S, Jafri W. Validity and cost comparison of ¹⁴Carbon urea breath test for diagnosis of *H. pylori* in dyspeptic patients. World J Gastroenterol 2007; 13:925-929
- Abid S, Anis MK, Azam Z, Jafri W, Lindberg G. Satiety drinking tests: Effects of caloric content, gender, age and body mass index. Scand J Gastroenterol 2009; 44:551-556
- 4. **Abid S**, Azam Z, Siddiqui S, Quadri Z, Awan S, Jafri W, Lindberg G. Satiety drinking test volumes correlate to symptom severity scores in functional dyspepsia. Submitted.

The studies will be referred to by their Roman numeral I-IV

CONTENTS

1	Intro	duction	1				
	1.1	1 Historical perspective					
	1.2	The Rome process	2				
		1.2.1 Rome I	2				
		1.2.2 Rome II	3				
		1.2.3 Rome III	3				
	1.3	Epidemiology of functional dyspepsia	4				
	1.4	Physiological dysfunctions in functional dyspepsia	5				
		1.4.1 Impaired gastric emptying	5				
		1.4.2 Increased visceral hypersensitivity	5				
		1.4.3 Impaired gastric accommodation	5				
		1.4.4 Other putative pathogenetic mechanisms for FD	6				
	1.5	Symptoms and patho-physiological mechanisms based					
		categorization of FD	6				
	1.6	Etiologic factors associated with FD	7				
		1.6.1 Genetic factors	7				
		1.6.2 Psychosocial disorders	7				
		1.6.3 Helicobacter pylori	8				
	1.7	Measurement techniques in FD	8				
		1.7.1 Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI)	8				
		1.7.2 Single photon emission computerized tomography (SPE	CT)9				
		1.7.3 Barostat measurement	9				
		1.7.4 Ultrasonography	9				
		1.7.5 Antro-duodenal manometry (ADM)	10				
		1.7.6 Electrogastrography (EGG)	10				
		1.7.7 Satiety drinking test	10				
		1.7.8 Breath tests					
	1.8	Treatment of FD	12				
		1.8.1 Helicobacter pylori eradication	12				
		1.8.2 Prokinetics	12				
		1.8.3 Antidepressants	13				
•		1.8.4 Other agents for treatment of functional dyspepsia	13				
2	Aim	s of the study	14				
3		crial, Methods, and study design	15				
	3.1	Study I	15				
	3.Z	Study II	10				
	3.3 2.4	Study III	10				
1	5.4 Stati	Study IV	1 /				
4		Studant's t tost	10				
	4.1 1 2	Student St-test	10				
	4.2 1 2	Log rank test	10				
	н.э Д Л	$\Delta \text{ nalvesis of variance } (\Delta \text{NOV} \Delta)$	10 10				
	т. т 45	Pearson's correlation	. 19				
	4.5 4.6	Multiple regression analysis	17				
	47	Sensitivity specificity negative and nositive predictive values	20				
	4 8	Cohen's kappa	21				

	4.9	Bonferroni's correction	21
5	Resu	lts	23
	5.1	Study I	23
	5.2	Study II	24
	5.3	Study III	26
	5.4	Study IV	27
6	Meth	nodological considerations	30
	6.1	Inherent disadvantages of retrospective study design	30
	6.2	Potential of enhancing alpha error	30
	6.3	Rate of drinking the nutrient liquid	30
	6.4	Potential effects of lack of blinding and recall bias	31
7	Disc	ussion	32
	7.1	Clinical usefulness of EGG	32
	7.2	Correlation between EGG and ADM	33
	7.3	Efficacy of ¹⁴ C-UBT	33
	7.4	Comparison of three satiety drinking tests	34
	7.5	Normal values of satiety drinking tests	34
	7.6	MTV as a surrogate marker for symptom severity in dyspepsia	35
	7.7	Relationship between age and MTV	35
8	Conc	elusions	37
9	Futu	re perspectives	38
10	Ackı	nowledgments	40
11	Refe	rences	43

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

FD	Functional dyspepsia
FGID	Functional gastrointestinal diseases
IBS	Irritable bowel syndrome
GERD	Gastroesophageal reflux disease
PDS	Postmeal distension syndrome
EPS	Epigastric pain syndrome
MRI	Magnetic resonance imaging
SPECT	Single photon emission computerized tomography
ADM	Antro-duodenal manometry
EGG	Electrogastrography
UBT	Urea breath test
SSRI	Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor
TCA	Tricyclic antidepressants
MTV	Maximum tolerated volume
EGD	Esophago-gastro duodenoscopy
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
PPV	Positive predictive value
NPV	Negative predictive value
NERD	Non-erosive reflux disease
GI	Gastrointestinal
SND	Slow nutrient drinking
RND	Rapid nutrient drinking
RWD	Rapid water drinking
NDIRS	Non-dispersive isotope selective infrared spectrometers

1 INTRODUCTION

Dyspepsia is derived from the Greek words *dys* and *pepse*, which mean an upset stomach or indigestion. The term functional dyspepsia was coined by one of the most well-known medical writers, Walter Clement Alvarez (1884-1978). He was a physician who investigated the electrical activity of the stomach and was also the inventor of electrogastrography (EGG) - a new diagnostic technique.

1.1 Historical perspective

In the early 18th century dyspepsia was classified into dietary, moral or nervous dyspepsia (1). Sir Charles Darwin's illness in the 18th century provides an interesting link to functional dyspepsia. Charles Darwin's adult life was affected by repeated gastric symptoms which severely compromised his quality of life. Darwin intermittently suffered from a combination of symptoms: malaise, vertigo, muscle spasms, vomiting, abdominal colics, bloating, nocturnal intestinal gases, headaches, severe tiredness, nervous exhaustion, dyspnea, depression and many more. Several explanations were given for his illness, including diseases like Meniere's diseases, Chaga's disease, cyclic vomiting syndrome, nervous dyspepsia and most recently according to Barry Marshall *H. pylori* infection (2).

A German internist, Wilhelm Otto Leube (1842-1922), is remembered for his work with gastric and intestinal disorders notably his research in nervous dyspepsia (3). Leube believed that gastric irritation was often caused by the effects of food on the sensory nerves of the stomach. Leube performed extensive studies on indigestion and introduced a procedure known as 'intubation' to retrieve gastric contents for analysis. He also introduced 'test meals' of different types of food, which were later retrieved from patients via Leube's "gastric tube". This helped him to estimate the degree of digestion of the test meal, as well as the quantity and concentration of acid and pepsin in the patients' stomach. He developed the Leube-Rosenthal Meat Solution in collaboration with Isidor Rosenthal - a physiologist.

An upsurge in the subject of functional dyspepsia (FD) came after the re-discovery of *H. pylori* by Barry Marshall and Robin Warren as a cause of peptic ulcer disease in the

early 1980s (4). Later in the 1980s the Rome process evolved and elaborated symptom criteria for defining functional dyspepsia. Despite extensive research in the etio-pathogenesis of functional dyspepsia, FD remains a heterogeneous disorder of unknown etiology, unsatisfactory treatment, diverse manifestations, and unpredictable course.

1.2 The Rome process

The "Rome process" is an international effort to formulate symptom criteria for the diagnosis of functional gastrointestinal disorders (FGID). The latter include irritable bowel syndrome (IBS), functional dyspepsia (FD) and several other functional disorders of gastrointestinal tract. The Rome criteria are issued after passing through a consensus process, using the Delphi technique (5). The Rome process typically takes many months of work by investigators, organized into various committees. The committees work by mail and telephone conferences until the final meeting, which takes place in Rome, Italy.

1.2.1 Rome I

In 1991, the Rome committee defined dyspepsia as persistent or recurrent abdominal pain or abdominal discomfort centered in the upper abdomen (6). According to this definition, abdominal discomfort could be a post-prandial fullness, bloating, nausea, vomiting, belching or early satiety. Symptoms can occur continuously or intermittently. Rome criteria identified three categories of dyspepsia: (i) dyspepsia with an identified cause that if treated led to improvement, such as chronic peptic ulcer disease, reflux esophagitis, malignancy, or hepatobiliary disease; (ii) dyspepsia with identified abnormalities of uncertain significance like *H. pylori* infection and gastroparesis; and (iii) dyspepsia with no explanation identified. The term FD was used for dyspepsia with identified underlying mechanisms of uncertain significance or dyspepsia for which no explanation was available.

The definition of FD was further elaborated by dividing it into three subgroups; (i) ulcer-like dyspepsia with predominant pain symptoms localized to the upper abdomen, relieved by taking food or antacid or H_2 antagonist or proton pump inhibitors. (ii) dysmotility -like dyspepsia where three or more of the following symptoms; early 2

satiety, nausea, recurrent retching or vomiting, bloating without visible distension, or abdominal discomfort often aggravated by food. The latter subgroup excludes abdominal pain as the predominant symptom (iii) unspecified FD.

Moreover all dyspeptic symptoms should be present for at least three months. In the first version of the Rome criteria a fourth group (reflux-like dyspepsia) was also defined (7). This was deleted in the Rome 1991 paper.

1.2.2 Rome II

In 1999, the Rome committee partially changed the criteria for dyspepsia, although the definition of dyspepsia was not altered (8). The committee's main focus was to align one specific predominant symptom with underlying Rome I based sub-groups of FD as defined above. The purpose of categorizing sub-groups of FD by a predominant symptom was to target treatment towards the predominant symptom. Rome II also revised the reporting duration of all symptoms. It elaborated that the symptoms had to be present for at least 12 weeks over a 12 months period which need not to be consecutive.

Both Rome I and II criteria for FD received criticism. It was observed that patients were frequently unable to distinguish abdominal pain from discomfort. The word *predominant symptom* (Rome II) was ambiguous and classifying patients based on symptoms could not identify subgroups with homogeneous underlying pathophysiological mechanisms. The duration and time course specification for dyspepsia also deemed to be clumsy (9).

1.2.3 Rome III

In 2006, the Rome committee made several changes of the functional dyspepsia classification (10). The committee described a more elaborative localization of the pain in the epigastric area. The term abdominal discomfort was abandoned and the key concept was replaced by the terms post-prandial fullness and early satiety. Rome III changed the predominant symptom-based sub-groups of FD into new categories with several symptoms into each category. The term functional dyspepsia was abandoned for research purposes in favor of a more detailed classification of functional gastro-duodenal disorders Table 1.

Table1. Functional gastro-duodenal disorders according to the Rome-III classification (10).

1.3 Epidemiology of functional dyspepsia

In clinical practice dyspepsia is a very common condition and up to one in 20 of all consultations in primary health care are for dyspepsia symptoms (11). A review by Agréus reported the prevalence of dyspepsia to range from 7-63 % while another review estimated it to be 2.5% - 41% (12, 13). This wide range is due to variability in the definition of dyspepsia. In a Swedish population based upper endoscopy study, the prevalence of FD was 16% and in another recently published population-based study showed that FD was present in 11% of the Italian general population (14, 15). The same study also documented that two distinct sub-groups of FD as described in Rome III exist in the general population.

Functional dyspepsia is a heterogeneous disorder with a fluctuation of symptoms and very little is known about its natural history. Symptoms of FD shift back and forth with gastro-esophageal reflux disease (GERD) and IBS. Studies have demonstrated both short-term and long-term fluxes of dyspeptic symptoms (12, 16). A study from Sweden noted some symptom fluctuation in the shorter term, but troublesome gastrointestinal complaints remained in approximately 90% of subjects over a 1-6 month period (17). In Japan, a 40 % prevalence of functional gastrointestinal diseases (FGID) was observed with overlapping functional bowel disorders (18).

1.4 Physiological dysfunctions in functional dyspepsia

FD is associated with physiological dysfunctions in the gastro-duodenal region. However, there is no uniform pattern of patho-physiological abnormalities found in all FD patients. Various mechanisms have been described.

1.4.1 Impaired gastric emptying

Studies have shown delayed gastric emptying occurs in approximately 20-50% of patients with FD (19, 20). In a meta-analysis of 17 studies, involving 868 patients with dyspepsia and 397 controls, significant delay of solid gastric emptying was present in almost 40% of patients with FD (21). However, some studies have documented a very weak association between delayed gastric emptying and dyspepsia symptoms (22, 23). In a subset of patients with FD, rapid gastric emptying has also been observed (24). Hence the relationship between FD and gastric emptying is not unified and remains controversial.

1.4.2 Increased visceral hypersensitivity

Increased perception of visceral stimuli has been considered as one of the major pathophysiological mechanisms in functional gastrointestinal disorders (25). Studies have demonstrated that a sub-set of patients with FD have enhanced sensitivity to isobaric gastric distension (26, 27). The exact site of hypersensitivity generated in these patients is however unknown. Two possible sites for generating hypersensitivity in these patients are the central nervous system and enteric nervous system especially visceral afferents.

In context with visceral hypersensitivity, several receptors have been identified as potential targets for future drug development. These include transient potential receptor vanilloid type I (TPRV1), voltage-gated sodium channels, ATP, acid sensing ion channel (ASICs), PAR-2, cannabinoid, prostaglandin, tachykinin, and 5HT-receptors (28).

1.4.3 Impaired gastric accommodation

Accommodation of the stomach is a vagus nerve-mediated reflex resulting in receptive relaxation of the proximal stomach after intake of a meal. Gastric accommodation

provides the meal with a reservoir and enables the stomach to handle intra-gastric volumes without a proportional increase of intra-gastric pressures. It is speculated that impaired accommodation of the proximal stomach during and after the ingestion of a meal may be accompanied by increase in intra-gastric pressure which activates mechanoreceptors in the gastric wall, thus inducing dyspeptic symptoms. Using a barostat, impaired gastric accommodation was demonstrated in 40% of patients with FD who presented with symptoms of early satiety and weight loss (29, 30).

1.4.4 Other putative pathogenetic mechanisms for FD

Bacterial gastroenteritis in adults may be a predisposing factor for FD in a subset of patients (31, 32).

Similarly untreated celiac disease is associated with intestinal inflammation. In untreated celiac disease, a high prevalence of delayed gastric emptying and of abnormalities on antroduodenojejunal manometery was found (33, 34). A gluten-free diet normalized gastric emptying rate (33), whereas persistence of motor abnormalities on antroduodenaojejunal manometry was associated with ongoing mucosal abnormalities suggestive of incomplete dietary adherence (34). Food intolerance has been debated for a long time as a factor causing functional dyspepsia. In patients with food intolerance, ingestion of a meal is associated with a rise in dyspeptic symptoms which is significant within 15 min after the start of the meal, and persists for at least 4 hours post-prandially (35). The underlying mechanism is unclear but sensorimotor dysfunction is a likely possibility (35, 36). Autonomic imbalance especially impaired vagal activity has also been implicated in the pathogenesis of FD (37).

1.5 Symptoms and patho-physiological mechanisms based categorization of FD

Attempts have been undertaken to classify patients with FD according to types or groups of symptoms that would reliably identify patients with different underlying patho-physiological mechanisms. This would help in directing therapy towards the underlying patho-physiology (38). However in clinical practice this classification showed great overlap between subclasses. Moreover a detailed analysis has revealed

that the predominant symptom does not reliably identify patho-physiological subsets (39, 40).

In a slightly different approach patho-physiology-based sub-groups of FD were formed and an attempt was made to find association between patho-physiological abnormalities and the dyspepsia symptoms (41). Thus, associations were demonstrated between delayed gastric emptying and symptoms of fullness, nausea, and vomiting (41). Moreover an association was also found between impaired fundic accommodation, early satiety and weight loss (41). A recent study on a large group of patients with FD in a tertiary care setting performed factor analysis of symptom patterns. This study showed that in patients with FD the presence of weight loss was strongly associated with early satiety and also with nausea and vomiting (42).

1.6 Etiologic factors associated with FD

Several factors have been suggested to play a significant role in the etiology of FD.

1.6.1 Genetic factors

There is increasing evidence that susceptibility to functional GI disorders is influenced by the presence of genetic factors (43). Homozygous GNB3 825C carrier status was found to be associated with unexplained predominantly upper abdominal symptoms (44). Recently, a study identified post-prandial distension syndrome (PDS) in Japanese male subjects with cholecystokinin intron carrier state (45). Similarly, another study from Japan showed association of IL-17F and MIF gene polymorphisms with the development of FD in *H. pylori*-infected patients (46).

1.6.2 Psychosocial disorders

A high score on psychomotor scale has been observed among patients with FD compared to normal individuals. Study has suggested that psychosocial stress, mood symptoms and coping style are the major predictors of FD (47). A recent population-based study found that anxiety was linked to uninvestigated dyspepsia and FD (14). The same study, however, did not find depression as an associated factor in patients with FD.

1.6.3 Helicobacter pylori

Several attempts have been made to determine if there is a relationship between *H*. *pylori* infection and functional dyspepsia. However, no consistent difference in the prevalence or severity of individual dyspeptic symptoms and physiological dysfunction were found between *H. pylori* positive and negative subjects (23). Moreover, the effects of eradication of *H. pylori* on epigastric symptoms of dyspepsia are debatable. A Cochrane meta-analysis suggested a small but significant beneficial effect of eradicating *H. pylori* on symptoms associated with FD (48). Therefore, the influence of *H. pylori* on the pathogenesis and symptom generation in patients with FD remains unclear.

1.7 Measurement techniques in FD

FD is a diagnosis of exclusion referring to absence of typical symptoms of GERD, and a normal upper GI endoscopy. There is no specific test or a biomarker available for the diagnosis of FD. However certain measurement techniques have been used for the evaluation of pathological changes and physiological dysfunction in patients with FD. Most of these measurement techniques require a tertiary care setting and their feasibility for the daily clinical practice is doubtful.

1.7.1 Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI)

MRI is a non-invasive and radiation-free technique, which can be use for the assessment of gastric emptying of both solids and liquids. An initial validation study showed good agreement between MRI and single photon emission computerized tomography (SPECT) for both solid and liquid meal gastric emptying (49). It is now possible to assess the gastric motility index (calculated from the frequency, amplitude, velocity and moving distance of peristaltic waves in the gastric antrum) reliably with MRI (50). The reproducibility of MRI in the assessment of gastric emptying and antral motion has been established (51). A recent study demonstrated MRI to be a sensitive technique for simultaneous measurement of gastric emptying and gastric motility index (52). The prolonged procedure time and positioning of the patient however have some technical and general limitations.

1.7.2 Single photon emission computerized tomography (SPECT)

SPECT is a non-invasive technique considered to be a gold standard in the assessment of gastric emptying. This technique has been extensively validated for the measurement of gastric volumes (53). When tested for reproducibility by using same caloric meal the coefficient of variation was approximately 10%. Gastric volume estimation by SPECT is a surrogate marker of gastric accommodation as well. A new application of SPECT (with significant potential interest) is the simultaneous measurements of gastric emptying and volume (54)

In comparison with Barostat, SPECT is a non-invasive method. However, SPECT cannot provide information about gastric tone, nor about gastric sensory responses. The SPECT technique is promising for investigation of gastric volumes in health and disease and for the assessment of the effects of pharmacological agents on gastric volume and emptying (41).

1.7.3 Barostat measurement

The barostat technique is regarded as the gold standard for assessing gastric accommodation. A 1200 ml balloon is passed into the stomach and unfolded by inflation of 500ml air and then positioned in the proximal stomach. The bag is connected to a pump through a double lumen tube. The pump is computer-controlled and can maintain a constant pressure or a constant volume of the bag. Both gastric sensitivity and accommodation can be studied using the barostat (55, 56). However, the barostat technique is invasive, uncomfortable and stressful for the patient.

1.7.4 Ultrasonography

Ultrasonography is a non-invasive technique, which has been tested for the assessment of gastric emptying, antral motility and trans-pyloric flow. Assessment of gastric accommodation by ultrasonography is evolving and two-dimensional ultrasonography of the proximal stomach has been used to demonstrate volume changes after meal and its impairment in patients with FD (57-61). Recently real time ultrasound technique has been used for the assessment of trans-pyloric flow and duodeno-gastric reflux (62). Ultrasonography has the advantage of being widely available. However, ultrasonographic assessment of gastric motility disorders requires technical expertise and the interpretation is operator dependent.

1.7.5 Antro-duodenal manometry (ADM)

The gastric antrum and duodenum generate lumen-occluding pressure activities, which are suitable for manometric recordings because of relatively narrow lumen of antroduodenal region compared to the body of stomach. ADM is an invasive test, involving intestinal intubation and fluoroscopy for accurate catheter placement. Currently, this technique is used to differentiate whether the documented slow gastric or small bowel transit is due to neuropathy, myopathy or undetected mechanical obstruction. ADM is also indicated for the diagnosis of intestinal pseudo-obstruction (63). The role of antroduodenal manometry is limited because of the technical challenges involved in its performance and the expertise required for its interpretation (64).

1.7.6 Electrogastrography (EGG)

Electrogastrograpy was introduced early in the 20th century (65). This test measures the slow wave electrical activities trans-cutaneously from the gastrointestinal (GI) tract. EGG is non-invasive and practically feasible. EGG detects rhythm and power (amplitude) of gastric myoelectricity. Studies have shown a good correlation between cutaneous EGG recordings and myoelectrical signals recorded from gastric serosal leads (66).

Although feasible, there are major concerns regarding the clinical usefulness of EGG. The placing of electrodes, skin preparation, stomach distension/contraction and EGG filtering and recording systems all influence the obtained EGG parameters. Moreover, there are no standard recommendations for the position of the patient during recording, recording periods and test meals. Lack of standardization for the equipment used to conduct EGG and the software for analysis of wave forms also remains a challenge. It appears that an acceptable consensus is needed to define the abnormalities based on the EGG recording when it is used to assess stomach motor dysfunction (67, 68)

1.7.7 Satiety drinking test

The satiety drinking test has been proposed as a surrogate method for estimating gastric volumes. Several versions of this test are available that differ from each other by the nature of liquid use for drinking (water, nutrient drink or meat soup) and the speed of drinking, ranging from 15 to 100 ml/min (29, 69). A previously published study has suggested that a high-caloric, slowly administered drinking test compares favorably 10

with the barostat in predicting impaired gastric accommodation (69). Satiety drink test is inexpensive and non-invasive. However there is ongoing controversy whether the satiation test reflects exclusively gastric accommodation or a combination of accommodation, sensation, and emptying (70).

1.7.8 Breath tests

1.7.8.1 ¹³C-octanoic acid breath test

Solid meal gastric emptying can be determined by 13 C-octanoic acid breath test. The nonradioactive isotope, 13 C is usually bound to a medium chain triglyceride (octanoic acid) which is incorporated into a standardized test meal. The 13 C-labeled substrate is ingested, emptied by the stomach, and absorbed in the proximal gut. This is a reproducible technique with a very low inter-individual variability (71, 72). The substrate that is commonly used to measure gastric emptying of solids by breath test is the 13 C-octanoic acid. The substrate is rapidly absorbed in the duodenum, metabolized in the liver where 13 CO₂ is formed and then exhaled rapidly in the breath (73). Octanoic acid breath test is a safe and radiation-free technique. The 13 C-octanoic acid breath test gives an indirect measure of gastric emptying and results may depend upon several factors such as the patient's age, weight and the level of physical activity during the test. Results can also be influenced by catabolic states and intestinal bacterial overgrowth. However, a recently published study with a large sample size showed a very small effect of such factors on the estimation of gastric emptying by 13 C octanoic acid breath test (74).

1.7.8.2 Urea breath test (UBT)

Urea breath test is one of the most reliable non-invasive techniques for the diagnosis of *H. pylori* infection. It comes in two versions ¹⁴C and ¹³C isotopes of carbon; the former is radioactive while the latter is not. This test is based upon the property of *H. pylori* to produce urease, an enzyme that splits urea into ammonia and bicarbonate. The carbon is liberated and it is measured in the exhaled air. Sensitivity and specificity are greater than 90% (75). However, there are certain limitations of using UBT in patients who were taking antibiotics and PPI, which may give rise to false negative results (76-78).

1.8 Treatment of FD

A strong physician-patient relationship is of the utmost importance in treating individual patient with FD so that reassurance and education may be provided. Dietary modification, such as ingestion of a low fat diet and small frequent meals may be beneficial, but data is scarce. Empiric acid suppression with H₂-receptors angonist (H2RAs) or PPIs is likely superior to placebo in treatment of FD, but those patients with meal-related symptoms are least likely to respond. Acid reduction is effective in reducing symptoms up to 35% of patients with non-ulcer dyspepsia, possibly due to unrecognized non-erosive reflux disease (79).

1.8.1 Helicobacter pylori eradication

Test and treat strategy for associated *H. pylori* infection is recommended for patients with uninvestigated dyspepsia when there are no alarming features. Eradication of *H. pylori* is a preferable strategy for patients with uninvestigated dyspepsia in areas where prevalence of *H. pylori* is 20% or higher (80). A Cochrane meta-analysis has shown a small but significant benefit from eradication of *H. pylori* in patients with FD that will reduce the risk of symptoms by 10% and NNT required to improve the condition of one patient is 14 (48).

1.8.2 Prokinetics

Experience with the use of prokinetics in functional dyspepsia is limited. Domperidone which is a D_2 antagonist that acts peripherally to increase antral motility; therefore, less potential for central side effects exists. One trial comparing metoclopramde and domperidone demonstrated no significant difference (81). Domperidone is not freely available worldwide. There are some other emerging prokinetic agents such as itopride which is D_2 receptor antagonist with acetylcohlinesterase inhibitory and low central activities. However the clinical usefulness of itopride in FD patients is controversial (82). Erythromycin a motilin agonist stimulates gastric and duodenal motility by acting on smooth muscles and enteric nerves. Erythomycin may promote gastric emptying but does not improve dyspeptic symptoms. There are issues of tachyphylaxis and impairment of meal induced gastric accommodation with the use of erythromycin (83).

1.8.3 Antidepressants

Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRI) increase the amount of serotonin within the synapse by inhibiting the serotonin reuptake transporter in both the CNS and ENS. This leads to increased availability of serotonin to the enteric nerves, which may alter sensorimotor functions of the gut. Almost no data regarding the efficacy of SSRIs in the treatment of patients with FD exist.

Tricyclic antidepressants (TCA) block serotonin and nor-epinephrine reuptake pumps. Hence, TCA have the potential to stimulate serotonin and noradrenergic neurons and thus affect sensorimotor functions of the gut, as well as analgesic pathways. Very few studies with TCAs in the treatment of FD have been completed. Amytriptiline- a TCA has shown decreased perception of symptoms compared to placebo in patients with FD but it was not associated with decreased perception to gastric distension (84).

1.8.4 Other agents for treatment of functional dyspepsia

Visceral hypersensitivity is increasingly recognized as a patho-physiologic mechanism of FD. Possible therapeutic targets include certain receptors involved in perception such as opioid, neurokinin and vanilloid receptors. Drugs targeting receptors involved in pain perception, are under development, yet no conclusive data is available to support their use at present (85).

2 AIMS OF THE STUDY

The overall aim of this project was to evaluate the clinical usefulness of certain measurement techniques that may aid in the understanding of FD.

Study I

To evaluate the relationship between the electrical activity of the stomach determined by electrogastography and antral contractile activity measured by antro-duodenal manometry and to study whether the underlying motility disorder could be predicted from EGG parameters.

Study II

To determine the validity and cost of microdose ¹⁴C-UBT in comparison with histology and rapid urease test for the diagnosis of *H. pylori* infection.

Study III

To compare the maximum tolerated volume (MTV) of taking water and a nutrient liquid at two different rates of drinking and to assess the effects of age, gender and body mass index on MTV.

Study IV

To find out if there is a relation over time between changes in gastric accommodation determined by a satiety drinking test and changes in symptom severity scores in patients with functional dyspepsia after four weeks of treatment.

3 MATERIAL, METHODS, AND STUDY DESIGN

Study I was a retrospective analysis done on a preexisting large data set of patients with motility disorders who underwent a combined antro-duodenal manometry and EGG test for the evaluation of their disease. Study II, III, and IV were prospectively designed. Materials, methods and study designs are summarized in Table 2.

Study	I	11	ш	IV
No. of participants	148	94	42	132
Design	Retrospective Observational	Prospective Experimental validation	Prospective Experimental	Prospective Interventional
Data source and Method	Medical records	Functional dyspepsia patients who underwent endoscopy, urea breath test, rapid urease test, and gastric biopsy with histology	Healthy volunteers Satiety drinking tests	Functional dyspepsia patients, who underwent endoscopy, urea breath test, satiety drinking test. These patients received proton pump inhibitor and/or anti- <i>H. pylori</i> treatment. Urea breath test and satiety drinking test were repeated after treatment
Data analysis	Descriptive and statistical analysis	Descriptive and statistical analysis	Descriptive and statistical analysis	Descriptive and statistical analysis

Table 2. Summary of material, methods, and study design.

3.1 Study I

The data was collected between 1994-2001. A total of 148 patients were evaluated for EGG parameters and 144 for correlations between EGG and ADM parameters. There were 21 EGG variables and 8 ADM variables that were analyzed and compared. A single channel EGG was used and Polygram version 6.40 was applied for data analysis. Similarly ADM was performed by a flexible 6-8 channel catheter connected to a pneumo-hydraulic pump. Data logging was done with a Polygraph 12HR and the

Polygram (Medtronic Synectics, Stockholm, Sweden) software. The protocol included a 3-hour fasting period followed by a test meal (500 kcal standardized mixed meal) and a 2-hour post-prandial recording.

3.2 Study II

Consecutive patients with dyspeptic symptoms, undergoing upper GI endoscopy were enrolled. During upper GI endoscopy, gastric biopsies were taken for histopathological examination and rapid urease test. A ¹⁴C-UBT was done by asking the patient to swallow 37 kBq (1 uCi) of an encapsulated form of ¹⁴C-urea/citric acid composition (Helicap, Noster System AB, Stockholm, Sweden) with water after endoscopy. Breath samples were collected with a special dry cartridge system 10 minutes after swallowing the UBT capsule. Results were expressed both as counts per minute (CPM) and as grade (0: not infected; CPM < 25, 1: equivocal; CPM 25-50, 2: infected; CPM > 50), which was suggested by the manufacturer according to the counts obtained from the cartridges. Grades 0 and 1 were considered negative for the detection of *H. pylori*.

3.3 Study III

This study comprised 42 healthy adult volunteers who were free from any gastrointestinal disease, had no abdominal complaints, and no history of abdominal surgery. They were subjected to satiety drinking tests on three different occasions. On the first occasion, subjects were also interviewed and their gender, age, height, weight, and BMI were recorded. On subsequent visits the other two drinking tests were taken. The study subjects drank plain water at a rate of 100 ml/min in one test (RWD = rapid water drinking). In the other two tests, study subjects drank a nutrient drink at a rate of 100 ml/min (RND = rapid nutrient drinking) or 20 ml/min (SND = slow nutrient drinking). During satiety drinking tests the study subjects scored their satiety level using a graphic rating scale that combined verbal descriptors on a scale graded from 0 to 5. Study subjects were instructed to stop drinking when they reached a score of 5. Symptoms of bloating, nausea, and abdominal pain were graded on a visual analogue scale (0-100) 30 min after cessation of drinking.

3.4 Study IV

Patients with FD were enrolled after initial screening by a Rome-III based questionnaire. All patients underwent a diagnostic esophago-gastro-doudenoscopy (EGD). Patients with gastric or duodenal erosions as well as those with ulcers, polyps or malignancy were excluded. Similarly, patients with predominant symptoms of GERD or endoscopic evidence of esophagitis were excluded. Patients with abnormal complete blood count, liver function tests, creatinine or abnormal upper abdominal ultrasound investigation were also excluded and so were patients who had received antibiotics in the last two weeks (e.g. clarithromycin, amoxicillin or metronidazole) or who had been treated in the past for *H. pylori* infection or received non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs). A ¹⁴C-urea breath test (UBT) was done in all patients after EGD. Patients were considered to have *H. pylori* infection if they had both positive UBT and evidence of *H. pylori* on histology. A satiety drinking test using nutrient drink at a rate of 30 ml/min was done in all patients before and 10 days after completion of four weeks' treatment. Dyspeptic symptom severity was scored using a global overall symptom scale (GOS) at the same timepoints as the drinking test.

4 STATISTICAL METHODS

Descriptive analyses were done in all four studies and results were expressed as mean ± SD. In study I, logarithmic transformation was done for some data that was not normally distributed. Specific statistical methods applied in each study are described in Table 3. Description and rationale of some statistical tests used in the analysis of the studies presented in this thesis are described below.

4.1 Student's t-test

Student's t-test is applied to analyze research questions involving two means. The t-test assesses whether the means of two groups are *statistically* different from each other. Student's t-test can be use to assess the differences of the means between two independent samples (unpaired t-test) or between two measurements in the same sample (paired t-test). In study IV, the assessment of MTV was done before and after treatment. Since the same study subjects were compared for assessment, the paired t-test was used.

4.2 Mann-Whitney U-test

This is one of the best known non-parametric tests for comparing two independent samples of observations if the normality assumptions are not satisfied. In study I the data for EGG variables was transformed to logarithmic values in order to make variables more normally distributed. Some EGG variables in study I (such as percentages of normogastria, bradygastria, tachygastria and dominant frequency) were not normally distributed and these were analyzed with Mann-Whitney U-test.

4.3 Log-rank test

This test is sometimes called the Mantel-Cox test. It is used for comparing the survival distributions of two samples. It is a non-parametric test widely used in clinical trials to establish the efficacy of a new treatment compared to a control treatment when the

measurement is the time to an event (such as time from initial treatment to a heart attack). In study III, the log-rank test was used for comparing maximum tolerated volumes between male and female groups. The event in study III was the achievement of complete satiety that prevents further drinking of nutrient liquid. Instead of time we have the amount of nutrient drink that was ingested before reaching the maximum satiety. Since a specified amount of nutrient liquid per time unit was taken, volume becomes a surrogate marker for time and it was feasible to use the log-rank test.

4.4 Analysis of variance (ANOVA)

One-way ANOVA is a statistical test which compares the means of several groups and therefore generalizes students two sample t-test to more than two groups. In study III, ANOVA was used to compare the three different satiety drinking tests and symptoms score that the study subjects developed.

4.5 Pearson's correlation

In statistics, the Pearson's product-moment correlation coefficient (sometimes referred to as PMCC, and typically denoted by 'r' is a measure of the correlation (linear dependence) between two variables X and Y, giving a value between +1 and -1 inclusive. It is widely used in science as a measure of the strength of linear dependence between two variables. A key mathematical property of the Pearson correlation coefficient is that it is invariant to changes in location and scale, i.e. changing the scale of either the X or the Y variable will not change the size of the correlation coefficient

The Pearson's correlation test was extensively applied in study I, III and IV. In study I, ADM variables were compared with EGG variables. Similarly, in study III, the MTV measured by three drinking tests were compared and the relationship between MTV with age and BMI was assessed by using Pearson's correlation.

In study IV, Pearson correlation was extensively utilized in order to understand the relationship between dyspepsia symptom severity scores and MTV. Correlations

between dyspepsia symptoms and MTV were analyzed at baseline and after 4 weeks of treatment.

Table 3. Summary of overall statistical methods applied in various studies.

Function	Statistical method	Study			
		I	II	III	IV
Frequency distribution using mean with standard deviation, median with range and percentages	Descriptive statistics	Х	X	Х	Х
Comparing means normally distributed data	Student's t-test			Х	
Comparing ranks non-parametric	Mann-Whitney U-test	Х			
Comparing survival distribution in two samples	Log-rank test			Х	
Survival proportion of the groups	Kaplan-Meier plot			Х	
Comparing means of several groups	Analysis of variance			Х	
Measure of correlation linear dependence	Pearson's product moment correlation	Х		Х	Х
Explore the relationship between dependent and independent variables.	Multiple linear or logistic regression	X		Х	Х
Reliability of a investigational test for diagnosis	Specificity, sensitivity, negative and positive predictive values		X		
Adjusting p-values for multiple comparisons	Bonferroni's test				Х
Agreement between observations	Cohen's kappa		Х		

4.6 Multiple regression analysis

Regression analysis is applied to understand which among the independent variables are related to the dependent variable, and to explore the forms of these relationships. When three or more measurement variables are available one of the measurement variables is the dependent (Y-axis) variable. The rest of the variables are the independent (X-axis) variables. The purpose of a multiple regression is to find an equation that best predicts the Y variable as a linear function of the X variables. We have used logistic regression in study I to determine EGG variables that were of independent value for predicting underlying diagnoses. Multiple regressions were also used in study III and IV in order to evaluate the effects of various factors such as age, gender, weight and BMI on MTV.

4.7 Sensitivity, specificity, and negative and positive predictive values

The accuracy of a diagnostic test or procedure has two aspects. The first is the test's ability to detect the condition it is testing for, thus being positive in patients who actually have the condition; this is the sensitivity of the test. If a test has high sensitivity it has low false negative rate. Sensitivity is the proportion of positive that are correctly identified by the test. The other aspect of the accuracy is the test's ability to identify those who do not have the condition. This is called the specificity of the test. If the specificity of a test is high it has a low false positive rate. Specificity is the proportion of negatives that are correctly identified by the test.

The positive predictive value of a test is the percentage of patients with a positive test result who actually have the condition. The negative predictive value of a test is the percentage of patients with a negative test who do not have the condition. In Study II all these tests were used to evaluate the validity of ¹⁴C-UBT in the diagnosis of *H. pylori* infection.

4.8 Cohen's kappa

Agreement between two observations can be tested by a simple kappa statistic, it is denoted by κ which measures the level of agreement beyond that exepected by chance. When κ is zero the agreement is no better than chance expected agreement. Agreement less than chance returns a negative κ -value. A value of kappa ranging from 0.61-0.80 is considered a good agreement, > 0.81 - 0.90 very good and > 0.91 excellent (86).

4.9 Bonferroni's correction

When several comparisons are made the probability of obtaining significance by chance is increased and the probability of making a Type-I error increases. One way to

compensate for multiple comparisons is to decrease the alpha level by dividing the alpha level with the number of comparisons made. In study IV, We used Bonferroni's correction for multiple comparisons when analyzing correlations between MTV and individual symptom severity scores.

5 RESULTS

5.1 Study I

The study population included 148 patients for comparing EGG parameters among various diagnosis groups and 144 patients for assessing the correlation between EGG and ADM parameters. The median age of the patients was 45 (range 17-76) years and 122 (82%) were females. There were 52 patients (35%) with IBS, 22 (15%) with enteric dysmotility, i.e. abnormal small bowel motor activity but no bowel dilatation, 26 (18%) with slow transit constipation, 11 (7%) with chronic intestinal pseudo-obstruction, 13 (9%) with functional dyspepsia with or without gastroparesis and 24 (16%) with other diagnoses, including various systemic and neurological diseases.

A correlation matrix between 21 EGG parameters and 8 ADM parameters was analyzed. Only a few and weak correlations were found between EGG and ADM. The comparison between the EGG response (ratio between postprandial and fasting power) and the ADM response to ingestion of a 500 kcal test meal (ratio between postprandial and fasting motility index) revealed no correlation (r = -0.07, P = 0.44), Figure 1. The ability of EGG to identify diagnostic groups was tested by comparing EGG parameters for each group against all other patients included. In general, the discriminatory power of EGG was low. Only patients with slow transit constipation showed a reasonable number of differences in postprandial EGG parameters compared to those in all other diagnosis groups.



= excellent; = good; and = fair quality.

Figure 1. Scatter plot of motility index ratio and power ratio in 144 patients (logarithmic scales).Symbols indicate different qualities of the EGG record:

5.2 Study II

Ninety-four consecutive patients with dyspeptic symptoms were enrolled for this study. They underwent ¹⁴C-UBT, rapid urease test, and gastric histology. There were 60 (64%) men and the mean age of study group was 40.8 ± 12.8 years. *H. pylori* infection was diagnosed by histology in 66 (70%) patients and by rapid urease test in 61 (65%) patients. UBT detected active *H. pylori* infection in 63 (67%) patients.

In comparison with histology, UBT had a sensitivity of 92% (95% CI: 87%-95%) and a specificity of 93% (95% CI: 79%-99%). The positive predictive value (PPV) of ¹⁴C-UBT was 97% (95% CI: 91%-99%) and the negative predictive value (NPV) was 84% (95% CI: 72%-89%) compared with histology (Table 4). These results showed that UBT had an accuracy of 93% compared to histology. Kappa test showed concurrence between the UBT diagnosis and histological diagnosis of *H. pylori* infection with value of 0.80 (p<0.001).

In comparison with rapid urease test, the sensitivity and specificity of UBT was 98% (95% CI: 93%-99%) and 91% (95% CI: 80%-94%). PPV and NPV were 95% (95% CI: 89%-97%) and 97% (95% CI: 86%-99%), respectively. UBT has an accuracy of 96% compared with rapid urease test for the diagnosis of *H. pylori* infection (Table 4). The result of the Kappa test was 0.88 (p< 0.001), which indicates a very good concurrence between rapid urease test and ¹⁴C-UBT.

Four patients with histological evidence of *H. pylori* infection had negative results with UBT and rapid urease test. At the time of this study, the cost of gastroscopy was 90 USD while the cost of histology and rapid urease test was 20 USD and 5 USD respectively in our institute. Therefore, the overall cost of *H. pylori* diagnosis by histology was 110 USD and 95 USD by rapid urease test. The cost of UBT was only 15 USD in our institute.

Table 4.	Sensitivity and specificity of ¹⁴	¹ C UBT agains	st histopathology	⁷ and rapid
urease tes	st for <i>H. pylori</i> diagnosis (n=94).		

UBT Compared to	Sensitivity (95% Cl)	Specificity (95% CI)	PPV (95% CI)	NPV (95% CI)	Accuracy
Histopathology	92% (87-95)	93% (79-99)	97% (91-99)	84% (72-89)	93%
Rapid urease test	98% (93-99)	91% (80-94)	95% (89-97)	97% (86-99)	96%

UBT: urea breath test PPV: Positive predictive value: NPV: negative predictive value; CI: confidence interval

5.3 Study III

Among 42 healthy volunteers MTV estimated by rapid water drinking was 1595 ± 405 ml in males and 1327 ± 308 ml in females (p<0.05). In rapid nutrient drinking (RND), the average volume tolerated by males was 945 ± 376 ml, whereas females tolerated 760 ± 174 ml (p<0.05). In slow nutrient drinking (SND) the tolerated amount of liquid was 692 ± 184 ml in males and 594 ± 131 ml in females (p=0.051). Both males and females tolerated significantly larger amounts of plain water at a rapid rate compared to the drinking of nutrient liquid either at a rapid or a slow rate.

Kaplan-Meier plots demonstrated that in rapid nutrient drinking test, fewer calories were required to reach the maximum tolerance in females compared to males (Figure 2a). However no significant difference in calorie requirement was observed between females compared to males on slow nutrient drinking test (Figure 2b).



Figure 2a. Kaplan-Meier plot of rapid nutrient drinking (100 ml/min) to maximum satiety in males and females. Females needed a lower kcal load to reach maximum satiety; p<0.03 (log-rank test). RND = rapid nutrient drinking.



Figure 2b. Kaplan-Meier plot of caloric intake using slow nutrient drinking (20 ml/min) to reach maximum satiety in males and females, p<0.051 (log-rank test). SND = slow nutrient drinking.

Multiple regression analysis showed no influence of age, BMI, or gender on maximum tolerated volumes in SND, while RND showed a gender difference but no influence of BMI and age. In contrast to this, RWD showed influence of BMI, age and gender over maximum tolerated volume.

Self-assessment of symptoms (maximum score 300) 30 minutes after cessation of drinking indicated that SND was associated with significantly higher symptom scores than the other drinking tests. Females experienced more symptoms, especially nausea and bloating, than did males after each of the three drinking tests.

5.4 Study IV

A total of 132 patients were enrolled and 128 completed the study. The median age of the patients was 38 (range 19-65) years and 65 (49%) were males. *H. pylori* were present at inclusion in 59 (46%) patients. Among *H. pylori* positive patients 50/59 (85%) achieved successful eradication.

MTV determined at baseline was 393 ± 202 ml in *H. pylori* negative group compared to 381 ± 237 ml in *H. pylori* positive group, the difference in MTV was not significant between the groups. On repeat testing following treatment, MTV showed a mean

increase of 188 ± 102 ml from baseline (<0.001) in *H. pylori* positive patients and an increase of 56 ± 77 ml from baseline (p<0.01) in *H. pylori* negative patients. While a decrease of 10 ± 34 ml in MTV was noted in patients in which *H. pylori* eradication was unsuccessful.

A significant inverse relationship was found between baseline MTV and the overall symptom score (maximum 56), (r = -0.44) in the whole group. Moreover, MTV at baseline showed significant correlations (after Bonferroni correction at p<0.05) with 4/8 symptoms (epigastric pain: r = 0.45, p<0.00625; epigastric burning: r = 0.43, p<0.00625; postprandial fullness: r = 0.56, p<0.00625; and early satiety: r = 0.50, p<0.00625; but not with upper abdominal bloating, excessive belching, vomiting, or nausea.

A significant correlation was also observed between the overall change in MTV and change in the overall symptom score following treatment for the whole group; (r=-0.61, p<0.001, Figure 3). In sub-group analysis, strong relationships were found between the change in MTV and the change in the total symptom score among *H. pylori* positive and *H. pylori* negative patients, (r=-0.60, p<0.001) and (r=-0.52, p<0.001) respectively.

We found significant correlations (after Bonferroni correction at p<0.05) between the change in MTV and changes in individual symptom scores for 4/8 symptoms (abdominal pain, abdominal burning, post-prandial fullness and early satiety). However, changes in the severity of belching, bloating, nausea and vomiting did not show a significant correlation with the change in MTV. On multivariate analysis age and weight were found to be independent predictors for MTV but not BMI and *H. pylori* status.



Figure 3. Scatter plot of the changes in maximum tolerated volume and symptom severity after treatment in patients with functional dyspepsia. Regression line is shown for all values (r=-0.61, p<0.001). \circ *H. pylori* negative patients, \bullet *H. pylori* positive patients with successful eradication, \blacksquare *H.pylori* positive patients with unsuccessful eradication.

6 METHODOLOGICAL CONSIDERATIONS

6.1 Inherent disadvantages of retrospective study design

Study I was a retrospective analysis of patient and laboratory records. A retrospective study uses existing data that have been recorded for purposes other than research. Therefore the correlation of EGG and ADM findings with patient's symptoms (potentially useful information) was not possible because of lack of uniform symptom recording in the data set. Moreover there was no control group of healthy individuals to compare with and it was not possible to add such a group because of retrospective nature of the study design.

6.2 Potential of enhancing alpha error

During hypothesis testing an alpha error is made when it is concluded that a result is positive while actually it is not i.e. a false positive conclusion. In Study I we compared 22 EGG and 8 ADM variables among various diagnostic groups of motility disorders. Such large number of variables could have enhanced the probability of obtaining significant differences between the groups (an increase of alpha error). We used logistic regression to account for interdependence of variables and to arrive at variables with an independent value for predicting diagnoses. A Bonferoni correction could have been applied to the correlation matrix but already without such a correction correlations were few and of small size.

6.3 Rate of drinking the nutrient liquid

In study III, MTVs were estimated in healthy volunteers through satiety drinking tests on three occasions using different rates of drinking either water or nutrient drink. The rate of slow nutrient drinking was 20 ml/min (1 kcal/ml), slightly different from the previously published study in which 15 ml/min (1.5 kcal/ml) was used (41). However, the caloric value of the nutrient drink in our study (study III) was 20 kcal/min, which is close to 22.5 kcal/ml used in the latter study.

6.4 Potential effects of lack of blinding and recall bias

Although not the main aim, study IV also evaluated symptoms among *H. pylori* negative and *H. pylori* positive patients with FD before and after treatment. Since the treatment was not administered in a blinded and controlled fashion a biased response on improvement in symptoms among *H. pylori* positive patients after treatment can not be ruled out. The blinding is particularly important when the response criteria are subjective, such as alleviation of pain. In study IV, apparent high rate of symptom improvement in patients with FD in which *H. pylori* was successful eradicated compared to patients without *H. pylori* infection could be due to open label administration of anti *H. pylori* treatment.

Symptom evaluation was done by using global overall symptom score (GOS) applying two days' symptom recall. It would have been more appropriate if a symptoms diary had been kept for a more precise evaluation of symptom improvement and fluctuation. Keeping a diary of symptoms can minimize the recall bias very effectively (87).

7 DISCUSSION

This thesis is based on evaluation of certain measurement techniques that may be helpful in the management of patients with FD. My thesis clarifies several ambiguities regarding clinical usefulness and practicality of these procedures.

7.1 Clinical usefulness of EGG

Previous studies have demonstrated EGG changes in various motility disorders such as diabetic neuropathy, systemic sclerosis, functional dyspepsia, Parkinson's disease, intestinal pseudo-obstruction, and after gastric surgery (88-93). Using EGG, the relationship between gastric motility and reflux symptoms in patients with non-erosive reflux disease (NERD) were analyzed before and after the use of a prokinetic drug (94). In that study it was found that gastric dysmotility, assessed by EGG was a significant feature in a subset of NERD patients and that dysmotility improved after prokinetic treatment. EGG in that study provided a non-invasive technique for evaluating the response to treatment objectively along with symptom improvement. Similarly, in a recent paper EGG was used for evaluating patients with diabetic gastroparesis (95). It was observed that patients with a cyclic symptom pattern had more EGG abnormalities and more prolonged delays in gastric emptying compared to patients without cyclic symptoms. These studies support the application of EGG in the evaluation of patients with motility disorders.

In Study I we found variability in several EGG parameters among patients with various motility disorders. However, these parameters could not be linked to a specific disorder and thus the discriminatory value of EGG in the diagnosis of various motility disorders was questionable. Study I demonstrated some EGG parameters that could discriminate slow transit constipation from other motility disorders of the GI tract. Another study has reported that healthy normal individuals can also depicting certain abnormalities on EGG recording (96). Therefore the careful interpretation of EGG findings is required.

7.2 Correlation between EGG and ADM

A direct comparison of EGG and ADM on a large number of patients with motility disorders (Study I) revealed no spatial correlation between the two techniques. This indicates that EGG and ADM measure different aspects of gut motor activity. A "one-to-one" correlation between gastro-duodenal motility parameters and EGG was also not found in a recently conducted study (90).

7.3 Efficacy of ¹⁴C-UBT

The high sensitivity and specificity observed for ¹⁴C-UBT (study II) in the diagnosis of *H. pylori* infection is comparable to histology and rapid urease test. Our results are corroborated by a study from Japan, which showed a high sensitivity (96.6%) and specificity (100%) of ¹⁴C-UBT in the diagnosis of *H. pylori* infection compared to histology, rapid urease test, and PCR (97).

A study has suggested using baseline and a 30-minute breath sample after ingesting 75 mg urea for the diagnosis of *H. pylori* infection (98). In study II, only one-time test i.e. 10 minutes after ingestion of a urea capsule was done yielding a high sensitivity and specificity. One-time ¹⁴C-UBT test could therefore be more practical and convenient for the patients.

There are concerns about the radiation hazards of using radioactive ¹⁴C-isotope of carbon in UBT. A recently published study has described that a very minimal emission of beta radiation takes place during ingestion of ¹⁴C, which is even less than the daily background radiation (99).

False positive results of UBT have been reported due to contamination of oral cavity and stomach by urease producing non-*H. pylori* bacteria (100,101). Therefore, in study II while validating the ¹⁴C sensitivity and specificity it would have been better if thorough mouth cleansing had been done before performing UBT.

Another issue related to the accuracy of UBT for the diagnosis of *H. pylori* infection is the possibility of false negative results of UBT in patients who have been taking proton pump inhibitors or H₂-antagonists (102). In this era of indiscriminate use of PPIs and their availability over the counter, a random ¹⁴C-UBT for the diagnosis of *H. pylori* (without abstinence from PPI) must be interpreted with caution.

Consensus guidelines have recommended that it is appropriate to eradicate *H. pylori* if found in patients with dyspeptic symptoms as a "test-and-treat" strategy, particularly in areas with a high prevalence of gastric carcinoma (103-105). At the primary care level, a reliable and portable test is required for the diagnosis of *H. pylori* infection. Findings from Study II and review of the literature suggest that ¹⁴C-UBT is efficacious and probably one of the best non-invasive tests for the diagnosis of *H. pylori* infection especially for developing countries.

7.4 Comparison of three satiety drinking tests

Important observations were made in Study III when healthy volunteers were subjected to three different satiety drinking tests. It was found that slow nutrient drinking (SND) was associated with more symptom generation than the other two tests. Moreover, it was noted that the MTV achieved by study subjects during SND was not influenced by age and BMI as compared to rapid nutrient drinking (RND) and rapid water drinking (RWD). A previously published study has also demonstrated that caloric nutrient liquid used in satiety drinking test is more symptom provoking than water (106).

In Study III, weak correlations were observed between MTV and BMI in all three satiety drinking tests. However, on multiple regression analysis, BMI showed significant influence over the MTV values obtained after the RWD test. These observations are in agreement with a previous study, which has demonstrated that the BMI did not influence MTV beyond its association with age and gender (107). These observations indicate that SND is probably a better method of performing satiety drinking test because it is less influenced by BMI or age and is associated with more symptoms.

7.5 Normal values of satiety drinking tests

Study III had an added value: normal values of MTV by satiety drinking tests using slow (20 ml/min) and rapid (100 ml/min) nutrient drinking and water drinking at 100

ml/min for this region were obtained. The study also demonstrated that MTV determined by rapid water drinking was comparable to published values from the Western world (29, 41, and 69,108).

7.6 MTV as a surrogate marker for symptom severity in dyspepsia

A significant correlation between MTV and dyspepsia symptom scores was observed in Study IV in patients with FD. Additionally, some individual dyspepsia symptom scores also correlated well with MTV. These observations suggest that MTV estimated by SND satiety drinking test can be used as a surrogate marker for symptom evaluation in patients with FD. To our best knowledge, no other study has described MTV as a surrogate marker for the severity of dyspepsia symptoms.

7.7 Relationship between age and MTV

A weak but inverse correlation was observed between age and MTV in healthy volunteers as well as in patients with FD in study III and IV respectively. This inverse relationship between age and MTV is quite in contrast to Western data that has indicated an increase in MTV with the increase in age (107). The nature of this inverse relationship is unclear and no other study has demonstrated such effect of age on MTV using satiety drinking tests. Interestingly, a recently published study has shown that symptoms of pain and nausea are inversely correlated with age following a standardized nutrient challenge (109).

The satiety drinking test was first applied more than a decade ago in an attempt to have a simple non-invasive test for the assessment of gastric accommodation. A significant correlation has been observed between gastric accommodation measured by barostat and total calories consumed during a nutrient drink test administered at 15 ml/min (41, 69). However, in another study using nutrient drink at 100 ml/min, no such relationship was noted between caloric consumption during drinking test and gastric accommodation estimated by barostat (29). Others have found no relationship between gastric accommodation assessed by SPECT and a satiety drinking test (110). Only a modest relationship was found between gastric emptying and satiety drinking test (111). Moreover, there is evidence that certain psychosocial factors might influence the outcome of satiety drinking tests (112). Therefore, it remains questionable what the satiety drinking test actually measures. In view of this ambiguity, the terms "slow nutrient tolerance test" and "nutrient challenge test" have been suggested to replace "satiety drinking test". The nutrient challenge test assesses global stomach sensation rather than just being the descriptor of single motor phenomena (113).

8 CONCLUSIONS

This thesis concluded that

EGG is a technique for evaluation of gastric motility whose discriminatory power to diagnose a motility disorder is very limited. The results of study I and review of the literature did not support any practical clinical utility of this technique in patients with gastrointestinal motility disorders. Therefore EGG will most likely remain a research tool only, in years to come.

¹⁴C-UBT is a reliable, highly sensitive, specific and economical test for the diagnosis of *H. pylori* infection. The amount of radiation exposure is negligible. Studies are required to determine its sensitivity in patients who are currently taking PPI or other acid lowering agents.

Satiety drinking test is a simple and inexpensive technique for evaluation of patients with FD. Use of a slower rate for nutrient drinking is better and yields a more meaningful measurement of MTV compared to nutrient drinking at a rapid rate or water drinking.

Changes in satiety drinking test volumes correlated well with changes in symptom severity in patients with FD. Therefore satiety drinking test might be useful as an adjunct to symptom score for objective assessment of clinical outcome in patients with FD.

9 FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

The electrogastrography technique is still evolving. Recent studies have focused on understanding the gastric slow wave changes demonstrated by EGG in response to proximal gut surgery, and the evaluation of certain novel pharmacotheraputic agents (93,114). A new device has recently been introduced (which is applied through laparoscope) for investigating the effect of gastric surgical procedure on gastric slow wave activities (115). However the clinical usefulness of EGG remains unproven.

Breath tests using the radioactive carbon isotope ¹⁴C were developed 3-4 decades ago for measuring exocrine pancreatic function, intestinal absorption, and liver function. With increasing awareness of radiation hazards ¹⁴C has been replaced by a stable, nonradiating carbon isotope, ¹³C in these breath test. For studies in children and pregnant women, and for repeated studies in adults, the use of stable isotopically labeled substrates is preferable and safe. High resolution mass spectrometry is the gold standard for measuring the slight mass difference of one neutron between ¹³C-labelled carbon dioxide and the naturally most common carbon dioxide with ¹²C. The development of non-dispersive isotope selective infrared spectrometers (NDIRS) opened up a lower-priced analytical alternative with adequate precision (116,117). Operation and handling of NDIRS is easy, even for non-experienced users. At the push of a button, breath samples can be analyzed within about 60 seconds. This enables not only the performance, but now also the analysis of ¹³C-breath tests in primary care settings. Measurement of gastric emptying, orocecal transit time and carbohydrate assimilation are some potential areas of further application of ¹³C breath test by using NDIRS.

Satiety drinking tests have the potential for clinical usefulness in routine practice especially for interventional trials as an adjunct to other evaluation techniques and symptom severity scores. In a recent study the role of endocannabinoid system in the regulation of motility and sensitivity of stomach was evaluated using nutrient liquid challenge test (118). In another study, water load test was used to evaluate symptoms in response to gastric distension before and after PPI therapy (119). These studies reflect the clinical application of a simple measurement technique, which is inexpensive and helpful in the evaluation of patients with FD and other functional proximal gut

disorders. However, there is a need to standardize the technique for uniform application in terms of the choice of the drink and rate of ingestion.

SmartPillTM, is a wireless capsule that continuously measures the temperature, pH and pressure in the GI tract. This capsule may be a useful technique in the future for determination of transit times in different parts of the GI tract without radiation and much invasiveness (120). Likewise, MRI (non-invasive and free from radiation hazard) is a promising technique for the assessment of gastric emptying and antral wall motion (51).

10 ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I wish to express my sincere gratitude to everyone who has contributed to the accomplishment of this thesis. It's been an incredible journey and they are many whom I would like acknowledge.

First and foremost, Professor **Greger Lindberg**, my supervisor, for his invaluable support, inspiration, patience and the endless hours he has spent on reviewing all the constituent papers and the thesis. I enjoyed lateral discussion with him on the subject of 'Functional Dyspepsia- the mysteries behind the pathogenesis of functional bowel disorders'. Greger has his unique perspective and possess the God gifted skill of critical analysis. He broadens my vision about science and life and this is the best reward of my doctoral studies.

Secondly, Professor **Lars Agréus**, my co-supervisor whose sympathetic and problem solving approach was invaluable during the crises in the final stages of my studies. From him, I have learnt how to critically evaluate the results of a study and how one can instigate rescue strategies in tackling difficult research issues.

Thirdly, Professor **Wasim Jafri** for his positive attitude, vision and extraordinary support during the demanding time when I was trying to balance my clinical assignments along with my PhD studies. He is the man behind the success of countless people and I am one of them.

Moreover, I would mention **Bo Bader Saleem Lindblad**, Professor Emeritus at Aga Khan University, who is the key link between AKUH and Karolinska Institutet due to his exceptional commitment and motivation for collaborative work between AKUH and KI. He was my mentor during PhD studies and I always considered myself sheltered as I know there is a person who is overseeing everything holistically.

Furthermore, I am thankful to **Yesuf Ahmed Taha** for his encouragement, advice and discussion during lunch hours at Karolinska. Thanks to **Aldona Dlugosz**, **Marie Iwarzon** and **Ghazaleh Mohammadian-Kermani** at Department of Medicine Karolinska Institute- Huddinge for their support in solving my day to day issues. I am also grateful to **Elisabeth Lindgren** for demonstrating various motility techniques and for always being ready to help. A special mention goes to **Berit Lecomte** for 40 supporting and keeping a track of post-graduate activities and for her timely valuable advice.

I owe special gratitude to Professor **Mohammad Khurshid**, former Dean Aga Khan University for his encouragement and support to the collaborative work with Karolinska Institute. Professor **Saeed Hamid** - for his backing up my studies. Dr. Saeed was very accommodative and tried to support my travel to Sweden through various funding sources. I also thank Professor **Masood Hameed Khan**, vice chancellor Dow Medical University - for being my teacher and mentor who while apparently , remaining out of picture cautiously monitored my progress. I would specifically like to acknowledge Professor **Hasnain Ali Shah**, chief of Gastroenterology at AKUH- for his understanding of the difficulties that one can encounter during such studies. I thank Ms. **Safia Awan** - for assisting in statistical work, Drs. **Soobia Siddqi, Zahib Qadri, Lubna Khan**, and **Zahid Azam** for their contribution in constituent papers. I also want to thank the secretarial staff at Aga Khan University notably Ms. **Sana Shamsi** and **Salman Rehmani** for their timely assistance during the preparation of manuscripts of constituent papers and **Annika Karlsson** at Karolinska Institute – Department of Medicine for facilitating in administrative matters.

I wish to acknowledge my grant sources: Swedish Institute, Karolinska Institute, AKH Faculty Development Award (FDA) and support from Department of Medicine funds

I thank World Journal of Gastroenterology and Scandinavian Journal of Gastroenterology for permissions to reprint the articles in my thesis.

The acknowledgments are incomplete without thanking my family. My parents -**Mohammed Abid Siddiqi** and **Najma Abid**, for their continual support and prayers throughout my career. My wife **Fauziah Rabbani** who was a source of continuous support. She is the one behind the success of this work. She is a courageous woman whose "never-say-die" attitude, even in the toughest moments, was the true inspiration that kept me moving on despite my distractive nature and extensive involvement in clinical work. My sons **Fahad** and **Adeel** who constantly remained tolerant and silently supported my studies. My mother-in-law **Arjumand Rabbani** also deserves appreciation. She is a strong lady who never reflects her worries and is always ready to help. She took care of my home and children when my wife and I were in Sweden for our studies. I also acknowledge my late father-in-law **Furqan Ahmed Rabbani**, who was a big supporter for post-graduate studies, being a PhD himself. He was a very optimistic individual with an analytical approach. He would have been really very happy if he would have lived to see this day. My special thanks to **Shahood Bahi**, my friend since 35 years, who supported me in every moment of my life and career. His friendship has been a blessing for my entire family.

The journey to PhD started on one fine evening over a cup of tea when I, my brotherin-law (**Ahson Rabbani**) and my wife were sitting and thinking to do some more studies. Two of us have already completed this journey and I am going to complete this soon. I pray one day that kids from our next generation will emulate and follow our footsteps. I am hopeful that **Fahad**, **Adeel**, **Farooq**, **Ahmed**, **Jamal Ara**, **Minza**, **Hafza**, **Aqusa**, **Mubashara** and **Hamza** will be able to continue this legacy.

11 REFERENCES

- 1. Hare E. The history of 'nervous disorders' from 1600 to 1840, and a comparison with modern views. Br J Psychiatry 1991; 159:37-45.
- 2. Marshall BJ. http://www.helico.com/h_famous.html
- Rosenfeld L. Gastric tubes, meals, acid, and analysis: rise and decline. Clin Chem 1997; 43:837-42.
- 4. Marshall BJ, Warren JR. Unidentified curved bacilli in the stomach of patients with gastritis and peptic ulceration. Lancet 1984; 1:1311-5.
- Drossman DA. The functional gastrointestinal disorders and the Rome III process. Gastroenterology 2006;130:1377-90
- Talley NJ, Colin-Jones D, Koch KL, Koch M, Nyren O, Stanghellini V. Functional dyspepsia: a classification with guidelines for diagnosis and management. Gastroenterol Int 1991; 4:145-160.
- Drossman DA, Thompson WG, Talley NJ, Funch-Jensen P, Janssens J, Whitehead WE. Identification of sub-groups of functional gastrointestinal disorders. Gastroenterol Int 1990; 3: 159-72.
- Talley NJ, Stanghellini V, Heading RC, Koch KL, Malagelada JR, Tytgat GN. Functional gastroduodenal disorders. Gut 1999; 45 Suppl 2:II37-42.
- Holtmann G, Stanghellini V, Talley NJ. Nomenclature of dyspepsia, dyspepsia subgroups and functional dyspepsia: clarifying the concepts. Baillieres Clin Gastroenterol 1998; 12:417-33.
- Tack J, Talley NJ, Camilleri M, Holtmann G, Hu P, Malagelada JR, et al. Functional gastroduodenal disorders. Gastroenterology 2006; 130:1466-79.
- Loof L, Adami HO, Agenas I, Gustavsson S, Nyberg A, Nyren O. The Diagnosis and Therapy Survey October 1978-March 1983, health care consumption and current drug therapy in Sweden with respect to the clinical diagnosis of gastritis. Scand J Gastroenterol Suppl 1985; 109:35-9.
- 12. Agreus L. Natural history of dyspepsia. Gut 2002; 50 Suppl 4:iv2-9.
- El-Serag HB, Talley NJ. Systemic review: the prevalence and clinical course of functional dyspepsia. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2004; 19:643-54.

- Aro P, Talley NJ, Ronkainen J, Storskrubb T, Vieth M, Johansson SE, Bolling-Sternevald E, Agreus L. Anxiety is associated with uninvestigated andfunctional dyspepsia (Rome III criteria) in a Swedish population-based study. Gastroenterology 2009;137:94-100
- Zagari RM, Law GR, Fuccio L, Cennamo V, Gilthorpe MS, Forman D, et al. Epidemiology of functional dyspepsia and subgroups in the Italian general population: an endoscopic study. Gastroenterology 2010; 138:1302-11.
- Halder SL, Locke GR, 3rd, Schleck CD, Zinsmeister AR, Melton LJ, 3rd, Talley NJ. Natural history of functional gastrointestinal disorders: a 12-year longitudinal population-based study. Gastroenterology 2007; 133:799-807.
- Bolling-Sternevald E, Aro P, Ronkainen J, Storskrubb T, Talley NJ, Junghard O, et al. Do gastrointestinal symptoms fluctuate in the short-term perspective? The Kalixanda study. Dig Dis 2008; 26:256-63.
- Nakajima S. The spectra of functional gastrointestinal disorders (FGID) in a Japanese hospital outpatient department according to the ROME II Integrative Questionnaire. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2008; 23 Suppl 2:S186-92.
- Tack J, Bisschops R, Sarnelli G. Pathophysiology and treatment of functional dyspepsia. Gastroenterology 2004; 127:1239-55.
- Talley NJ, Verlinden M, Jones M. Can symptoms discriminate among those with delayed or normal gastric emptying in dysmotility-like dyspepsia? Am J Gastroenterol 2001; 96:1422-8.
- Quartero AO, de Wit NJ, Lodder AC, Numans ME, Smout AJ, Hoes AW. Disturbed solid-phase gastric emptying in functional dyspepsia: a metaanalysis. Dig Dis Sci 1998; 43:2028-33.
- 22. Talley NJ, Locke GR 3rd, Lahr BD, Zinnsmeister AR, Tougas G, Ligozio G, Rojavin MA. Functional dyspepsia, delayed gastric emptying, and impaired quality of life. Gut 2006; 55: 933-9.
- Sarnelli G, Cuomo R, Janssens J, Tack J. Symptom patterns and pathophysiological mechanisms in dyspeptic patients with and without Helicobacter pylori. Dig Dis Sci 2003; 48:2229-36.
- Delgado-Aros S, Camilleri M, Cremonini F, Ferber I, Stephens D, Burton DD. Contributions of gastric volumes and gastric emptying to meal size and postmeal symptoms in functional dyspepsia. Gastroenterology 2004; 127:1685-94.

- 25. Camilleri M, Coulie B, Tack JF. Visceral hypersensitivity: facts, speculations, and challenges. Gut 2001; 48:125-31.
- Tack J, Caenepeel P, Fischler B, Piessevaux H, Janssens J. Symptoms associated with hypersensitivity to gastric distention in functional dyspepsia. Gastroenterology 2001; 121:526-35.
- Bouin M, Lupien F, Riberdy M, Boivin M, Plourde V, Poitras P. Intolerance to visceral distension in functional dyspepsia or irritable bowel syndrome: an organ specific defect or a pan intestinal dysregulation? Neurogastroenterol Motil 2004; 16:311-4.
- Akbar A, Walters JR, Ghosh S. Review article: visceral hypersensitivity in irritable bowel syndrome: molecular mechanisms and therapeutic agents. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2009; 30:423-35.
- Boeckxstaens GE, Hirsch DP, van den Elzen BD, Heisterkamp SH, Tytgat GN. Impaired drinking capacity in patients with functional dyspepsia: relationship with proximal stomach function. Gastroenterology 2001; 121:1054-63.
- Kindt S, Tack J. Impaired gastric accommodation and its role in dyspepsia. Gut 2006; 55:1685-91.
- Mearin F, Perez-Oliveras M, Perello A, Vinyet J, Ibanez A, Coderch J, et al. Dyspepsia and irritable bowel syndrome after a Salmonella gastroenteritis outbreak: one-year follow-up cohort study. Gastroenterology 2005; 129:98-104.
- Ford AC, Thabane M, Collins SM, Moayyedi P, Garg AX, Clark WF, et al. Prevalence of uninvestigated dyspepsia 8 years after a large waterborne outbreak of bacterial dysentery: a cohort study. Gastroenterology 2010; 138:1727-36.
- Rocco A, Sarnelli G, Compare D, de Colibus P, Micheli P, Somma P, et al. Tissue ghrelin level and gastric emptying rate in adult patients with celiac disease. Neurogastroenterol Motil 2008; 20:884-90.
- Bassotti G, Villanacci V, Mazzocchi A, Mariano M, Incardona P, Clerici C, et al. Antroduodenojejunal motor activity in untreated and treated celiac disease patients. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2008; 23:e23-8.
- Bisschops R, Karamanolis G, Arts J, Caenepeel P, Verbeke K, Janssens J, et al. Relationship between symptoms and ingestion of a meal in functional dyspepsia. Gut 2008; 57:1495-503.

- Pilichiewicz AN, Horowitz M, Holtmann GJ, Talley NJ, Feinle-Bisset C. Relationship between symptoms and dietary patterns in patients with functional dyspepsia. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2009; 7:317-22.
- 37. Bracci F, Iacobelli BD, Papadatou B, Ferretti F, Lucchetti MC, Cianchi D, et al. Role of electrogastrography in detecting motility disorders in children affected by chronic intestinal pseudo-obstruction and Crohn's disease. Eur J Pediatr Surg 2003; 13:31-4.
- 38. Talley NJ. Review article: functional dyspepsia--should treatment be targeted on disturbed physiology? Aliment Pharmacol Ther 1995; 9:107-15.
- Karamanolis G, Caenepeel P, Arts J, Tack J. Association of the predominant symptom with clinical characteristics and pathophysiological mechanisms in functional dyspepsia. Gastroenterology 2006; 130:296-303.
- Talley NJ, Weaver AL, Tesmer DL, Zinsmeister AR. Lack of discriminant value of dyspepsia subgroups in patients referred for upper endoscopy. Gastroenterology 1993; 105:1378-86.
- Tack J, Piessevaux H, Coulie B, Caenepeel P, Janssens J. Role of impaired gastric accommodation to a meal in functional dyspepsia. Gastroenterology 1998; 115:1346-52.
- 42. Tack J, Jones MP, Karamanolis G, Coulie B, Dubois D. Symptom pattern and pathophysiological correlates of weight loss in tertiary-referred functional dyspepsia. Neurogastroenterol Motil 2010; 22:29-35, e4-5.
- 43. van Lelyveld N, Linde JT, Schipper M, Samsom M. Candidate genotypes associated with functional dyspepsia. Neurogastroenterol Motil 2008; 20:767-73.
- Holtmann G, Siffert W, Haag S, Mueller N, Langkafel M, Senf W, et al. Gprotein beta 3 subunit 825 CC genotype is associated with unexplained (functional) dyspepsia. Gastroenterology 2004; 126:971-9.
- Tahara T, Arisawa T, Shibata T, Nakamura M, Wang F, Yoshioka D, et al. 779 TC of CCK-1 intron 1 is associated with postprandial syndrome (PDS) in Japanese male subjects. Hepatogastroenterology 2009; 56:1245-8.
- 46. Arisawa T, Tahara T, Shibata T, Nagasaka M, Nakamura M, Kamiya Y, et al. Genetic polymorphisms of molecules associated with inflammation and immune response in Japanese subjects with functional dyspepsia. Int J Mol Med 2007; 20:717-23.

- 47. De la Roca-Chiapas JM, Solis-Ortiz S, Fajardo-Araujo M, Sosa M, Cordova-Fraga T, Rosa-Zarate A. Stress profile, coping style, anxiety, depression, and gastric emptying as predictors of functional dyspepsia: a case-control study. J Psychosom Res; 68:73-81.
- Moayyedi P, Soo S, Deeks J, Delaney B, Harris A, Innes M, et al. Eradication of Helicobacter pylori for non-ulcer dyspepsia. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2006:CD002096.
- 49. Feinle C, Kunz P, Boesiger P, Fried M, Schwizer W. Scintigraphic validation of a magnetic resonance imaging method to study gastric emptying of a solid meal in humans. Gut 1999; 44:106-11.
- Ajaj W, Goehde SC, Papanikolaou N, Holtmann G, Ruehm SG, Debatin JF, et al. Real time high resolution magnetic resonance imaging for the assessment of gastric motility disorders. Gut 2004; 53:1256-61.
- 51. Carbone SF, Tanganelli I, Capodivento S, Ricci V, Volterrani L. Magnetic resonance imaging in the evaluation of the gastric emptying and antral motion: Feasibility and reproducibility of a fast not invasive technique. Eur J Radiol 2009 May 27 [Epub ahead of print].
- Baba S, Sasaki A, Nakajima J, Obuchi T, Koeda K, Wakabayashi G. Assessment of gastric motor function by cine magnetic resonance imaging. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2009; 24:1401-6.
- 53. Burton DD, Kim HJ, Camilleri M, Stephens DA, Mullan BP, O'Connor MK, et al. Relationship of gastric emptying and volume changes after a solid meal in humans. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 2005; 289:G261-6.
- 54. Bouras EP, Delgado-Aros S, Camilleri M, Castillo EJ, Burton DD, Thomforde GM, et al. SPECT imaging of the stomach: comparison with barostat, and effects of sex, age, body mass index, and fundoplication. Single photon emission computed tomography. Gut 2002; 51:781-6.
- 55. Azpiroz F, Malagelada JR. Gastric tone measured by an electronic barostat in health and postsurgical gastroparesis. Gastroenterology 1987; 92:934-43.
- Sarnelli G, Vos R, Cuomo R, Janssens J, Tack J. Reproducibility of gastric barostat studies in healthy controls and in dyspeptic patients. Am J Gastroenterol 2001; 96:1047-53.
- 57. Gilja OH, Hausken T, Odegaard S, Berstad A. Monitoring postprandial size of the proximal stomach by ultrasonography. J Ultrasound Med 1995; 14:81-9.

- Hausken T, Odegaard S, Matre K, Berstad A. Antroduodenal motility and movements of luminal contents studied by duplex sonography. Gastroenterology 1992; 102:1583-90.
- Gilja OH, Detmer PR, Jong JM, Leotta DF, Li XN, Beach KW, et al. Intragastric distribution and gastric emptying assessed by three-dimensional ultrasonography. Gastroenterology 1997; 113:38-49.
- 60. Gilja OH, Hausken T, Wilhelmsen I, Berstad A. Impaired accommodation of proximal stomach to a meal in functional dyspepsia. Dig Dis Sci 1996; 41:689-96.
- Undeland KA, Hausken T, Gilja OH, Aanderud S, Berstad A. Gastric meal accommodation studied by ultrasound in diabetes. Relation to vagal tone. Scand J Gastroenterol 1998; 33:236-41.
- Haruma K, Kusunoki H, Manabe N, Kamada T, Sato M, Ishii M, et al. Realtime assessment of gastroduodenal motility by ultrasonography. Digestion 2008; 77 Suppl 1:48-51.
- Frank JW, Sarr MG, Camilleri M. Use of gastroduodenal manometry to differentiate mechanical and functional intestinal obstruction: an analysis of clinical outcome. Am J Gastroenterol 1994; 89:339-44.
- 64. Verhagen MA, Samsom M, Jebbink RJ, Smout AJ. Clinical relevance of antroduodenal manometry. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 1999; 11:523-8.
- 65. Alvarez WC. The electrogastrogram and what it shows. JAMA 1922;78:1116-9
- Lin Z, Chen JD, Schirmer BD, McCallum RW. Postprandial response of gastric slow waves correlation of serosal recordings with electrogastrogram Dig Dis Sci 2000; 45:645-51.
- 67. Camilleri M, Hasler WL, Parkman HP, Quigley EM, Soffer E. Measurement of gastrointestinal motility in the GI laboratory. Gastroenterology 1998; 115:747-62.
- 68. Chang FY. Electrogastrography: basic knowledge, recording, processing and its clinical applications. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2005; 20:502-16.
- 69. Tack J, Caenepeel P, Piesssevaux H, Cuomo R, Janssen J. Assessment of meal induced gastric accommodation by a satiety drinking test in health and in severe functional dyspepsia. Gut 2003; 52:1271-77.
- De Schepper HU, Cremonini F, Chitkara D, Camilleri M. Assessment of gastric accommodation: overview and evaluation of current methods. Neurogastroenterol Motil 2004; 16:275-85.

- Ghoos YF, Maes BD, Geypens BJ, Mys G, Hiele MI, Rutgeerts PJ, et al. Measurement of gastric emptying rate of solids by means of a carbon-labeled octanoic acid breath test. Gastroenterology 1993; 104:1640-7.
- Choi MG, Camilleri M, Burton DD, Zinsmeister AR, Forstrom LA, Nair KS. Reproducibility and simplification of 13C-octanoic acid breath test for gastric emptying of solids. Am J Gastroenterol 1998; 93:92-8.
- Lee JS, Camilleri M, Zinsmeister AR, Burton DD, Kost LJ, Klein PD. A valid, accurate, office based non-radioactive test for gastric emptying of solids. Gut 2000; 46:768-73.
- 74. Keller J, Andresen V, Wolter J, Layer P, Camilleri M. Influence of clinical parameters on the results of 13C-octanoic acid breath tests: examination of different mathematical models in a large patient cohort. Neurogastroenterol Motil 2009; 21:1039-e83 Jun 22 [Epub ahead of print].
- 75. Chen TS, Chang FY, Chen PC, Huang TW, Ou JT, Tsai MH, et al. Simplified 13C-urea breath test with a new infrared spectrometer for diagnosis of Helicobacter pylori infection. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2003; 18:1237-43.
- Chey WD. Accurate diagnosis of Helicobacter pylori. 14C-urea breath test. Gastroenterol Clin North Am 2000; 29:895-902.
- 77. Gatta L, Ricci C, Stanghellini V, Ali A, Menegatti M, Morselli Labate AM, et al. Best cut-off values for [14C]-urea breath tests for Helicobacter pylori detection. Scand J Gastroenterol 2003; 38:1144-8.
- Chey WD, Wong BC. American College of Gastroenterology guideline on the management of Helicobacter pylori infection. Am J Gastroenterol 2007; 102:1808-25.
- Moayyedi P, Delaney BC, Vakil N et al. The efficacy of proton pump inhibitors in nonulcer dyspepsia: a systematic review and economic analysis. Gastroenterology 2004; 127: 1329-37.
- Talley NJ, Vakil N. Guidelines for the management of dyspepsia. Am J Gastroenterol 2005;100:2324-37
- Moayyedi P, Soo S, Deeks J, Forman D, Harris A, Innes M, et al. Systematic review: Antacids, H2-receptor antagonists, prokinetics, bismuth and sucralfate therapy for non-ulcer dyspepsia. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2003; 17:1215-27.

- Talley NJ, Tack J, Ptak T, Gupta R, Giguere M. Itopride in functional dyspepsia: results of two phase III multicentre randomized double-blind placebo-controlled trials. Gut 2008; 57:740-6.
- Arts J, Caenepeel P, Verbeke K, Tack J. Influence of erythromycin on gastric emptying and meal related symptoms in functional dyspepsia with delayed gastric emptying. Gut 2005; 54:455-60.
- Mertz H, Fass R, Kodner A, Yan-Go F, Fullerton S, Mayer EA. Effect of amitriptyline on symptoms, sleep, and visceral perception in patients with functional dyspepsia. Am J Gastroenterol 1998; 93:160-5.
- McNally MA, Talley NJ. Current treatments in functional dyspepsia. Curr Treat Options Gastroenterol 2007; 10:157-68.
- 86. Byrt T. How good is that agreement? Epidemiology 1996; 7:561.
- 87. Sandha GS, Hunt RH, Veldhuyzen van Zanten SJ. A systematic overview of the use of diary cards, quality-of-life questionnaires, and psychometric tests in treatment trials of Helicobacter pylori-positive and -negative non-ulcer dyspepsia. Scand J Gastroenterol 1999; 34:244-9.
- Gad-el-Hak N, Bakr AM. Gastric myoelectrical activity in diabetics with and without diabetic autonomic neuropathy. Hepatogastroenterology 2001; 48:590-3.
- McNearney TA, Sallam HS, Hunnicutt SE, Doshi D, Wollaston DE, Mayes MD, et al. Gastric slow waves, gastrointestinal symptoms and peptides in systemic sclerosis patients. Neurogastroenterol Motil 2009; 21:1269-e120.
- Sha W, Pasricha PJ, Chen JD. Correlations among electrogastrogram, gastric dysmotility, and duodenal dysmotility in patients with functional dyspepsia. J Clin Gastroenterol 2009; 43:716-22.
- Chen CL, Lin HH, Chen SY, Lin SZ. Utility of electrogastrography in differentiating Parkinson's disease with or without gastrointestinal symptoms: a prospective controlled study. Digestion 2005; 71:187-91.
- 92. Bracci F, Iacobelli BD, Papadatou B, Ferretti F, Lucchetti MC, Cianchi D, et al. Role of electrogastrography in detecting motility disorders in children affected by chronic intestinal pseudo-obstruction and Crohn's disease. Eur J Pediatr Surg 2003; 13:31-4.
- Bures J, Kabelac K, Kopacova M, Vorisek V, Siroky M, Palicka V, et al. Electrogastrography in patients with Roux-en-Y reconstruction after previous Billroth gastrectomy. Hepatogastroenterology 2008; 55:1492-6.

- 94. Kamiya T, Adachi H, Hirako M, Shikano M, Matsuhisa E, Wada T, et al. Impaired gastric motility and its relationship to reflux symptoms in patients with nonerosive gastroesophageal reflux disease. J Gastroenterol 2009; 44:183-9.
- 95. Christensen CJ, Johnson WD, Abell TL. Patients with cyclic vomiting pattern and diabetic gastropathy have more migraines, abnormal electrogastrograms, and gastric emptying. Scand J Gastroenterol 2008; 43:1076-81.
- 96. Shimamoto C, Hirata I, Hiraike Y, Takeuchi N, Nomura T, Katsu K. Evaluation of gastric motor activity in the elderly by electrogastrography and the (13) Cacetate breath test. Gerontology 2002; 48:381-6.
- 97. Ozdemir E, Karabacak NI, Degertekin B, Cirak M, Dursun A, Engin D, et al. Could the simplified (14) C urea breath test be a new standard in noninvasive diagnosis of Helicobacter pylori infection? Ann Nucl Med 2008; 22:611-6.
- Zullo A, Perna F, Ricci C, Hassan C, Tampieri A, De Francesco V, et al. 13Curea breath test values and Helicobacter pylori eradication. Dig Dis Sci 2008; 53:370-4.
- Bentur Y, Matsui D, Koren G. Safety of 14C-UBT for diagnosis of Helicobacter pylori infection in pregnancy. Can Fam Physician 2009; 55:479-80.
- Pathak CM, Avti PK, Bunger D, Khanduja KL. Kinetics of 14carbon dioxide excretion from 14C-urea by oral commensal flora. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2008; 23:1603-7.
- 101. Osaki T, Mabe K, Hanawa T, Kamiya S. Urease-positive bacteria in the stomach induce a false-positive reaction in a urea breath test for diagnosis of Helicobacter pylori infection. J Med Microbiol 2008; 57:814-9.
- 102. Ozturk E, Yesilova Z, Ilgan S, Ozguven M, Dagalp K. Performance of acidified 14C-urea capsule breath test during pantoprazole and ranitidine treatment. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2009; 24:1248-51.
- 103. Fock KM, Katelaris P, Sugano K, Ang TL, Hunt R, Talley NJ, et al. Second Asia-Pacific Consensus Guidelines for Helicobacter pylori infection. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2009; 24:1587-600.
- 104. Malfertheiner P, Megraud F, O'Morain C, Bazzoli F, El-Omar E, Graham D, et al. Current concepts in the management of Helicobacter pylori infection: the Maastricht III Consensus Report. Gut 2007; 56:772-81.
- Dyspepsia-management of dyspepsia in adults in primary care: NICE report
 2004. <u>http://www.nice.org.uk/pdf/CGO17fullguideline.pdf</u>

- Boeckxstaens GE, Hirsch DP, Kuiken SD, Heisterkamp SH, Tytgat GN. The proximal stomach and postprandial symptoms in functional dyspeptics. Am J Gastroenterol 2002; 97:40-8.
- 107. Chial HJ, Camilleri C, Delgado-Aros S, Burton D, Thomforde G, Ferber I, et al. A nutrient drink test to assess maximum tolerated volume and postprandial symptoms: effects of gender, body mass index and age in health. Neurogastroenterol Motil 2002; 14:249-53.
- 108. Jones MP, Hoffman S, Shah D, Patel K, Ebert CC. The water load test: observations from healthy controls and patients with functional dyspepsia. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 2003; 284:G896-904.
- 109. Gururatsakul M, Holloway RH, Adam B, Liebregts T, Talley NJ, Holtmann GJ. The ageing gut: diminished symptom response to a standardized nutrient stimulus. Neurogastroenterol Motil 2010; 22:246-e77.
- 110. Gonenne J, Castillo EJ, Camilleri M, Burton D, Thomforde GM, Baxter KL, et al. Does the nutrient drink test accurately predict postprandial gastric volume in health and community dyspepsia? Neurogastroenterol Motil 2005; 17:44-50.
- 111. van den Elzen BD, Bennink RJ, Holman R, Tytgat GN, Boeckxstaens GE. Impaired drinking capacity in patients with functional dyspepsia: intragastric distribution and distal stomach volume. Neurogastroenterol Motil 2007; 19:968-76.
- Geeraerts B, Vandenberghe J, Van Oudenhove L, Gregory LJ, Aziz Q, Dupont P, et al. Influence of experimentally induced anxiety on gastric sensorimotor function in humans. Gastroenterology 2005; 129:1437-44.
- 113. Kindt S, Coulie B, Wajs E, Janssens J, Tack J. Reproducibility and symptomatic predictors of a slow nutrient drinking test in health and in functional dyspepsia. Neurogastroenterol Motil 2008; 20:320-9.
- Chen CL, Yi CH, Kuo TB, Yang CC. Effect of acid suppression on gastric myoelectrical activity in GERD. Hepatogastroenterology 2008; 55:1353-5.
- 115. O'Grady G, Du P, Egbuji JU, Lammers WJ, Wahab A, Pullan AJ, et al. A novel laparoscopic device for measuring gastrointestinal slow-wave activity. Surg Endosc 2009; 23:2842-8.
- 116. Savarino V, Mela GS, Zentilin P, Bisso G, Pivari M, Mansi C, et al. Comparison of isotope ratio mass spectrometry and nondispersive isotopeselective infrared spectroscopy for 13C-urea breath test. Am J Gastroenterol 1999; 94:1203-8.

- 117. Gatta L, Ricci C, Tampieri A, Osborn J, Perna F, Bernabucci V, et al. Accuracy of breath tests using low doses of 13C-urea to diagnose Helicobacter pylori infection: a randomised controlled trial. Gut 2006; 55:457-62.
- 118. Ameloot K, Janssen P, Scarpellini E, Vos R, Boesmans W, Depoortere I, et al. Endocannabinoid control of gastric sensorimotor function in man. Aliment Pharmacol Ther.2010; 31:1123-31.
- 119. Battaglia E, Grassini M, Navino M, Niola P, Verna C, Mazzocchi A, et al. Water load test before and after PPI therapy in patients with gastro-oesophageal reflux disease. Dig Liver Dis 2007; 39:1052-6.
- 120. Cassilly D, Kantor S, Knight LC, Maurer AH, Fisher RS, Semler J, et al. Gastric emptying of a non-digestible solid: assessment with simultaneous SmartPill pH and pressure capsule, antroduodenal manometry, gastric emptying scintigraphy. Neurogastroenterol Motil 2008; 20:311-9.